### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1700

DAVID M. DEREN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAUL MORRIS Law Offices of Paul Morris, P.A. 9130 S. Dadeland Blvd. Suite 1528 Miami, FL 33156 (305) 670-1441

**Counsel for Petitioner** 

###

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### Introduction

The petitioner, David Deren ("Deren" or "petitioner"), requests that this Court quash the decision of the Fourth District in *Deren v. State*, 962 So. 2d 385 (Fla.4th DCA 2007).

Deren and co-defendant Nathan Stewart were tried jointly by jury upon charges arising from a bar altercation with Jerry Fitzpatrick, the bar's bouncer. The hotly contested issue at the trial was: Who was the aggressor? Two months prior to the trial, the prosecutor received a letter from the bar's worker's compensation carrier revealing that as of that date, the insurer had paid to Fitzpatrick nearly \$24,000 in lost wages and medical expenses as a result of the bar fight. The letter also stated that the claim remained open and Fitzpatrick's benefits were ongoing. The prosecutor not only concealed the letter from the defense, she also asserted in her closing argument to the jury that no state witness had a stake in outcome of the case. After Deren was convicted of a lesser offense, the prosecutor disclosed the letter to the defense.

Deren moved for a new trial based upon *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), arguing that the letter was improperly suppressed by the prosecutor and that the accrued benefits constituted

impeachment evidence showing Fitzpatrick's financial incentive to testify that he was not the aggressor. (Fitzpatrick would not be entitled to any benefits as the aggressor in the bar fight.) The trial judge agreed that the prosecutor improperly concealed the letter but refused to grant Deren a new trial on the ground that the payments to Fitzpatrick were not material. Deren appealed to the Fourth District, raising the *Brady* violation, coupled with a claim of prosecutorial misconduct based upon the prosecutor's argument to the jury. Deren also challenged the trial court's denial of his motion for production of Fitzpatrick's drug rehabilitation records.

The Fourth District found that the prosecutor improperly concealed the insurer's letter. Nevertheless, the Fourth District affirmed based upon its finding that Deren's counsel could have obtained the information contained in the letter through reasonable diligence. The Fourth District did not address the materiality of the concealed payments to Fitzpatrick, the prosecutor's closing argument, or the drug records issue. This Court granted review.

Volumes one and two of the record on appeal filed in the Fourth District are consecutively paginated from 1-309 and are designated by the symbol "R". The symbol "T" designates the trial transcripts which are consecutively paginated from 1-698 and contained in volumes three through six of the record on appeal.

### The Trial

The amended information charged that on December 21, 2004, Deren and Stewart committed: aggravated battery with a deadly weapon, namely, a barstool; disorderly conduct; and battery. (R. 32-33). Deren invoked discovery pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220 on December 28, 2004. (R. 9-11). The jury trial commenced in March of 2006.

### The State's Case

The alleged victim and the State's star witness, Fitzpatrick, testified that he is a professional bouncer who provides security in night clubs and bars. (T. 151). Fitzpatrick stated that he has been involved in 500 bar fights. He is accomplished in various martial arts including tae kwon do, isshinryu, aikido, jujitsu, kung fu, and tai chi. (T. 152, 166). Fitzpatrick is 5'10" tall, weighs 200 pounds, trains in a gym, and bench presses 250 pounds. (T. 183-84).

On the night in question, Fitzpatrick was the bouncer in a bar where Deren and Stewart were patrons who were conversing and having beer. Fitzpatrick decided that the two were intoxicated because Stewart was leaning too closely to people while talking with them and Deren fell from his barstool. (T. 153).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State witness Dominique Steffen, an employee of the bar, described the behavior of Deren and Stewart as "joking around with each other" (T. 55) and "play fighting." (T. 56). She described the bar floor as "extremely slippery" (T. 59).

Fitzpatrick told Deren and Stewart to leave the bar. Stewart responded that he would like to finish his beer before leaving. (T. 174).

The bartender served Deren and Stewart another round of drinks. Fitzpatrick acknowledged that the bar's policy was not to serve anyone who appeared to be inebriated. (T. 168-69). Fitzpatrick told them again to leave. According to Fitzpatrick, Stewart became verbally aggressive. Fitzpatrick believed that Stewart was going to pick up his drink and hit him with it. Based solely upon that belief, Fitzpatrick grabbed Stewart under his arms, dragged him to the front exit door, and attempted to shove him out the door. But the door was locked and the two bounced off the door. Fitzpatrick wrestled Stewart to the floor. Fitzpatrick claimed that while he was fighting Stewart, he was hit by Deren on the head four times with a barstool. (T. 153-56; 183). Fitzpatrick punched Deren in the face approximately four times, breaking Deren's nose and causing blood to gush. Fitzpatrick then grabbed Stewart by the chin and threw him to the floor. (T. 157-58; 182). Fitzpatrick stated that Dominique Steffen asked Deren to step outside and Deren complied. (T. 158).<sup>2</sup> Stewart was pinned on the floor under Fitzpatrick until police arrived. (T. 104, 158).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Steffen, all of 102 pounds, testified that she had no problem getting Deren to exit the bar. (T. 57, 60, 78-9, 81).

Fitzpatrick claimed that as a result of the fight, he suffered dizziness, nausea, and confusion. (T. 160). He took an overdose of Dilaudid but attributed that to his confusion. (T. 161). Also, just days after the incident, Fitzpatrick consumed Percocet and a strong alcohol drink known as a "Jager bomb". (T. 179-80). Fitzpatrick thereafter admitted himself into a drug rehabilitation clinic. (T. 162). Fitzpatrick acknowledged that he also consumed Percocets on the day of the incident. (T. 178). He further testified that all of the State's witnesses to the fight are his friends. (T. 180).

The first police officer on the scene, Melvin Barbre, testified that upon arrival, he observed Fitzpatrick lying on top of an individual who was pinned to the ground and trying to get out from underneath. (T. 102-04). The officer knew Fitzpatrick but did not know Deren or Stewart. After conducting interviews at the scene, the officer arrested Deren and Stewart. (T. 104-06). The officer testified that Stewart and Deren were so injured that the jail would not admit them so the officer took them to a hospital. (T. 113). Fitzpatrick was also taken to a hospital. The officer also testified that as Fitzpatrick was leaving the scene for the hospital, he blew kisses at Deren. (T. 116).

Sean DeVito testified that he worked for the bar as a bartender but on this night, he was socializing with a friend at the bar when he heard Fitzpatrick approach

Deren and Stewart. DeVito heard Fitzpatrick say to Deren and Stewart that the bar was getting ready to close, that the two were loud, and it was time for them to leave. DeVito described the conversation as "a normal thing." (T. 235, 246-49, 255-56). But then, according to DeVito, it "escalated" when Fitzpatrick grabbed Stewart. (T. 236). According to DeVito, while Fitzpatrick fought Stewart, Deren threw a barstool at Fitzpatrick. (T. 236). A brawl ensued and there was much blood. DeVito grabbed "one of them" and tried to calm things down. DeVito was slammed against the wall and they both fell to the floor. (T. 237). A waitress took Deren outside. The fight continued between Fitzpatrick and Stewart. (T 238; 243). DeVito never saw Deren or anyone else repeatedly strike Fitzpatrick with a barstool. (T. 246).

Nicole Guyon, the bar manager, testified that Deren and Stewart were bickering and knocked over a barstool. Fitzpatrick asked the two to leave. (T. 275-77). Thereafter, a barstool was either thrown at Fitzpatrick or someone struck him with one. (T. 278). Guyon confirmed the bar's policy not to serve intoxicated patrons. She stated that if someone was falling down from intoxication, that person would not be served. (T. 297).

Amanda Vaughn, the bartender for the outside bar, was getting off work when she observed the fight already in progress. She testified that Deren threw a

barstool at Fitzpatrick. (T. 310, 313, 316).

Dr. Hal Tobias, a neurologist, treated Fitzpatrick for headaches and neck and back pain. (T. 124-26). The doctor was provided by The Hartford Insurance Company (the worker's compensation carrier for the bar). (T. 143-44).

### The Case for the Defense

Deren testified that he was conversing and having drinks with Stewart when Fitzpatrick told Stewart that the bar was going to close and it was time for them to leave. Stewart responded that he would leave in a few minutes after finishing his beer. (T. 357). At that time, neither Deren nor Stewart had fallen off a barstool. Rather, when Deren had earlier returned from the bathroom, he stepped on the edge of the barstool to sit on it and it toppled over. (T. 354).

Stewart had ordered a last round of drinks before Fitzpatrick first approached. (T. 357). When Fitzpatrick returned and threatened that this was the last time he would tell them to leave, Stewart responded that if it was closing time, he should be telling the other patrons to leave as well. Stewart had his hand on his glass of beer when he was grabbed by Fitzpatrick. The glass of beer was knocked out of Stewart's hand. Stewart was not threatening Fitzpatrick with the glass. Stewart asked Fitzpatrick what he thought he was doing. Fitzpatrick twisted Stewart's arm behind his back, lifted him off the floor and forced him to the exit

door. (T. 358-60, 367).

Stewart was slammed to the floor and Fitzpatrick was on top. (T. 361). Because Fitzpatrick was physically dominating Stewart, Deren came to Stewart's defense by attempting to push Fitzpatrick from Stewart. DeVito joined the fray by putting Deren in a headlock from behind which left Deren vulnerable to Fitzpatrick who took advantage by punching Deren in the face multiple times and breaking his nose. (T. 362-64). Deren struggled to escape DeVito by pushing him into a wall. Deren denied striking anyone with a barstool. (T. 367, 390). Deren testified that he is 5'8" tall and weighs 150 pounds. (T. 344).

Stewart also testified. Stewart stated that the first time Fitzpatrick approached him, there was no aggression. Stewart simply told Fitzpatrick that they would leave after he finished his beer. (T. 427). The second time Fitzpatrick approached, however, his tone was threatening. When Stewart answered that he would leave in 30 seconds in order to finish his beer, Fitzpatrick turned violent. (T. 428). Fitzpatrick grabbed and yanked Stewart's arm, spilling Stewart's drink all over his shirt. When Stewart asked what Fitzpatrick thought he was doing, Fitzpatrick placed Stewart in a choke hold and dragged him toward the door. (T. 429, 438-39). Fitzpatrick attempted to shove Stewart out the door but the door was locked and they bounced off it. Stewart was losing oxygen and starting to pass out from

Fitzpatrick's choke hold. Stewart fought to escape and the two exchanged blows. (T. 431, 439). But Fitzpatrick pinned Stewart on the floor. <u>Stewart was being punched when Deren came to his defense by punching and kneeing Fitzpatrick</u>. (T. 433, 439-40). Stewart suffered numerous injuries before the fight ended. (T. 434-36).

John Larson testified that he was in the bar with Deren and Stewart immediately before the fight commenced. According to Larson, neither Deren nor Stewart was inebriated, falling down, knocking heads, bothering anyone, or obnoxious. (T. 410-11). Larson left the bar just as it was starting to clear out. (T. 411).

Samuel Berkowitz testified that he was conversing with Deren and Stewart before the fight. Berkowitz stated that neither Deren or Stewart was drunk or causing anyone a problem. (T. 416-17). Berkowitz was outside the bar in his vehicle in the parking lot on the telephone when the police arrived. (T. 417-18, 421).

### The Prosecutor's Closing Argument

In her closing argument to the jury, the prosecutor made the following assertion:

The people [i.e., the prosecution witnesses] that came in here and testified don't have any stake in this. They don't have any reason to come in here and tell you something unless it is the truth.

(T. 526).

### The Verdict and Sentence

The jury acquitted Deren of aggravated battery with a barstool as charged in count one, but found Deren guilty of the lesser included offense of battery. Deren was also found guilty of disorderly conduct as charged in count two and guilty of battery as charged in count three. (T. 591).<sup>3</sup> In a separate proceeding held immediately after the verdict was announced, the jury determined that Deren had a previous case where he entered a plea to a withheld adjudication. (T. 621). By statute, that "non-conviction" constituted a prior conviction for the purpose of elevating count three to a felony. *See* § 784.03(2), Florida Statutes. Deren was sentenced to incarceration for nine months followed by probation for four years. (R. 252).

### The Brady Violation and Motion for New Trial

After the verdict, the prosecutor sent a fax to defense counsel. Her fax cover sheet asked whether defense counsel objected to restitution. (R. 221). The letter that accompanied the cover sheet was dated January 27, 2006 (two months prior to the commencement of trial) and was from The Hartford Insurance Company to the prosecutor. The letter stated the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The jury returned the same verdict as to Stewart. (R. 591).

January 27, 2006

Linda Bach, Asst State Atty State Attorney Office 100 East Ocean Blvd Stuart, FL 34994

RE: Claim Number: YKV/01391

Injured Worker: Jerry Fitzpatrick Employer: Barret Enterprises

*Date of Loss:* 12/21/04

Dear Ms. Bach:

This letter will confirm my conversation with your office today. The Hartford is the workers' compensation carrier for Barret Enterprises and is paying medical and lost wages benefits on behalf of Jerry Fitzpatrick due to injuries suffered as a result of this assault.

At this time I am requesting that you petition the judge, when appropriate, to include an order for restitution of damages during the sentencing phase of the criminal case. As of this date The Hartford has paid \$20,956.47 in medical and \$2,946.84 in lost wages. Mr. Fitzpatrick's claim is still open and we continue to pay benefits.

If you need for us to provide documentation of these damages I can do that at any time. Also, I would appreciate your contacting me to provide additional information regarding what expectations we may have regarding the court ordering the restitution if he is convicted.

Thank you very much for your assistance in this matter. I can be reached at 877-673-9222 ext. 25461.

Sincerely,
/s Eric Harbinson
Subrogation Specialist

(R. 222). The letter was never previously disclosed to the defense.<sup>4</sup>

Deren moved for a new trial arguing that pursuant to *Brady* and the Florida discovery rules, the letter should have been disclosed upon its receipt by the prosecutor two months prior to trial because it constituted critical impeachment evidence against Fitzpatrick who would not be entitled to any benefits as the aggressor. (T. 628-31). At the hearing on the motion for new trial, defense counsel represented that he would have cross-examined Fitzpatrick about the nearly \$24,000 in benefits that had accrued as of the date of the letter. (T. 629). In opposition to the motion for new trial, the prosecutor summarized her position as follows: "I don't think that this letter would make any difference whatsoever." (R. 632).

The trial judge denied the motion for new trial in a written order. (R. 225-233). The judge stated: "To be sure, the State should have provided this letter in discovery." (R. 226). However, the judge concluded that the prosecutor's concealment of the letter did not undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. (R. 227-28).

### **Deren's Direct Appeal to the Fourth District**

Deren appealed to the Fourth District and sought a new trial based upon the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> One of the prosecutor's pretrial supplemental discovery responses was served upon the defense after she received the letter. But the letter was not disclosed in that response or at any other time prior to the verdict. (R. 164-73).

following two pertinent claims: first, he was denied due process of law as a result of the concealment of the insurance company's letter coupled with the prosecutor's closing argument to the jury; second, the trial court reversibly erred in denying his motion for production of Fitzpatrick's drug rehabilitation records. *See* 4th DCA Initial Brief of Appellant.<sup>5</sup>

In its answer brief in response to the claimed *Brady* violation, the State argued that "... the letter was not relevant to the guilt phase of the trial and its absence did not undermine the fairness of the trial." (4th DCA Answer Brief of Appellee at 18). The State did not claim that Deren's trial counsel could have discovered the accrued benefits through due diligence. As to Deren's claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the State argued that the prosecutor's closing argument to the jury was "proper" and "could not have had any impact on the outcome of the trial." *Id.* at 25. The State also defended the trial court's refusal to order disclosure of Fitzpatrick's medical records. *Id.* at 26-28.

### The Decision of the Fourth District

The Fourth District affirmed Deren's convictions. The Fourth District agreed with Deren and the trial judge that the prosecutor's concealment was improper. *See Deren*, 962 So. 2d at 386. ("We find that ... the State erred in failing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Stewart separately appealed to the Fourth District. His appeal was dismissed upon his untimely death. *See Stewart v. State*, 4D06-2040.

to provide the letter to defense counsel ..."). However, the Fourth District reasoned that the suppression of the accrued benefits to Fitzpatrick did not require reversal for the following two reasons:

First, although Deren did not know the total of Fitzpatrick's insurance payments, defense counsel admitted at trial that he was aware there was a worker's compensation claim. While defense counsel cross-examined Fitzpatrick about the claim,<sup>6</sup> he did not question Fitzpatrick about the amount of money he received or the value of his benefits.

Second, Deren possessed all of Fitzpatrick's medical records. These records, though they do not contain billing information, give an accurate portrayal of what treatments Fitzpatrick received. Deren's counsel admitted he did not depose any doctors on the amount of the treatments' costs or pursue the matter any further. We find Deren should reasonably have known that, as Fitzpatrick received his injuries while at work, he mostly [sic] likely received worker's compensation.

*Id.* The Fourth District did not address the materiality of the suppressed evidence, the prosecutor's closing argument, or the medical records issue.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

### I. The *Brady* Violation

Deren was charged with offenses arising from a bar fight with Fitzpatrick, the bar's bouncer. Deren and Fitzpatrick each contended that the other was the aggressor. Shortly before the commencement of the jury trial, the prosecutor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In its answer brief, the State asserted that such cross examination took place. 4th DCA Answer Brief of Appellee at 21. In his reply brief, Deren pointed out that no such cross-examination took place. 4th DCA Reply Brief of Appellant at 3-4.

received a letter from the bar's insurance company. The letter stated that the insurer paid more than \$24,000 in worker's compensation benefits to Fitzpatrick as of that date and that the claim was ongoing. Because Fitzpatrick would not be entitled to those benefits as the aggressor in the fight,<sup>7</sup> the letter disclosed a significant financial incentive for Fitzpatrick to testify for the State and constituted impeachment evidence. However, in violation of her constitutional duty under *Brady* to disclose such evidence to the defense, the prosecutor concealed the letter. To make matters worse, the prosecutor also asserted to the jury in her closing argument that no State witness had a stake in the outcome of the case. Deren was convicted on a lesser charge. Only after the conviction did the prosecutor disclose the letter to Deren's counsel.

Deren moved for a new trial based upon the *Brady* violation. The trial judge agreed with Deren that the prosecutor's concealment of the evidence violated *Brady*, but denied the motion for a new trial on the ground that the payments to Fitzpatrick were not material.

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