IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 07-1700

(4th DCA 4D06-2039)

DAVID D. DEREN,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 656879

LAURA FISHER ZIBURA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0337020 1515 North Flagler Drive 9th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Fax: (561) 837-5099

Counsel for Respondent

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

In the case at bar, it is clear that the defense knew that the victim, (Fitzgerald) had a workers compensation claim. Dr. Hal Tobias testified at trial that he was retained by the Fitzpatrick's workers compensation carrier (T. 143). Post trial, when defense counsel argued for a new trial based on the alleged the <u>Brady</u> violation, he acknowledged that he knew about the workers compensation claim and even stated that he cross examined the victim on the issue, although a review of the transcript indicates that he did not.(T. 628,629,631). Further, defense counsel stated that he made efforts to contact the Hartford Insurance Company to discuss the claim, but they did not return his calls. (T. 628-629, 631). Therefore, like in <u>Doorbal</u>, the workers compensation evidence cannot be found to have been withheld, because Appellant knew about the claim.

This Court typically does not reach the prejudice prong when it determines that there was no violation of Brady because the

defense knew about the evidence he claims was suppressed by the State. See <u>Riechmann v. State</u> 966 So. 2d 298,308 (Fla. 2007); <u>Overton v. State</u>, 32 FLW S775 (November 29, 2007); <u>Peede v. State</u>, 955 So. 2d 480,497 (Fla. 2007);<u>Stewart v. State</u>, 801 So. 2d 59,70 (Fla. 2001); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 768 So. 2d 1037,1041,1042 (Fla. 2000); <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1055.1063 (Fla. 2000); <u>Haliburton v. Singletary</u>, 691 So. 2d 466(Fla. 1997); <u>Provenzano v.</u> <u>State</u>, 616 So. 2d 428,430(Fla. 1993); <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 1255,1260 (Fla. 1990); US v. Prior, 546 F.2d 1254 (5th Cir. 1977).

This Court has also addressed whether the evidence was material after finding that the state did not improperly withhold evidence. In <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 1055 (Fla. 2000), the case relied on by the Fourth District in the case at bar, defendant argued that the State failed to inform counsel of a witness's statement. <u>Id</u>. at 1062. This Court found that the record established that defendant knew or should have known about the witness and could have discovered details about her statement through the exercise of reasonable diligence. <u>Id</u>. However, in a footnote, this Court did address the prejudice prong of <u>Brady</u>, stating that there was no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different. Id. at 1063, FN.5.

This Court addressed the prejudice prong in <u>Archer v. State</u>, 934 So. 2d 1187,1202 (Fla. 2006), where the defense argued that the state withheld evidence that a witness had been involved in

burglary in another state. This Court reasoned that because defendant testified about that crime at trial, even if there was non disclosure, it was not prejudicial. Id.

Archer also argued that the State failed to produce police reports concerning another robbery which he would have used as impeachment evidence. <u>Id</u>. This Court explained that although there is no "due diligence" requirement in the <u>Brady</u> test, defendant failed to show that there was anything in those reports which he was unaware and which would have put the case in such a different light as to undermine the confidence of the verdict. <u>Id</u>. at 1203-1204. This Court found that the record showed that defendant was aware of the other crimes and that the evidence in question was both favorable and unfavorable. <u>Id</u>.

The <u>Archer</u> Court considered the fact that Appellant was aware of the evidence in its analysis of whether it would have put the case in such a light at to undermine the verdict. In the case at bar, Appellant's counsel knew of the victim's workers compensation claim and even made some effort to obtain information directly from the carrier prior to trial. (T. 628-632). Therefore this Court should consider Appellant's apparent knowledge of the claim when evaluating whether the absence of the letter would have placed the case in such a different light as to undermine the verdict.

In <u>Wright v. State</u>, 857 So. 2d 861,870 (Fla. 2003), the defense argued that the state withheld information contained in

police files of other suspects and the neighborhood's criminal activity. This Court found that the prosecution was not required to provide defendant with all its investigatory work, but even if the State should have disclosed it, defendant failed to demonstrate that he was prejudiced. <u>Id</u>. This Court held that the mere possibility that undisclosed items may have been some help to the defense does not constitute constitutional materiality. (*internal citations omitted*). Similarly, in the case at bar, the mere possibility that the amount of benefits paid by the victim's workers compensation carrier *may* have had some impeachment value, could not raise the claim to the level of constitutional materiality.

In <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 778 So. 2d 944,954 (Fla. 2001), defendant argued that the State violated <u>Brady</u> by suppressing evidence found in the victim's brief case. The trial court found that the record showed that trial counsel was aware of the items both before and during trial, that it would not have impeached the testimony of the state's key witnesses and would not have resulted in a markedly weaker case for the prosecution. <u>Id</u>. This Court agreed, holding that the evidence did not fall within the category of <u>Brady</u> material because it does not meet the materiality prong of the test and because both the prosecutor and defense were aware of the information. Id.

Likewise, in the case at bar, this Court should find no

violation, because Appellant knew about the claim and evidence in question was not material. The workers compensation letter was not material because it would not have had any impact on the credibility of the victim, Jerry Fitzpatrick. Even if the defense would have pursued this avenue of impeachment, the evidence adduced at trial was overwhelming that the Fitzpatrick suffered serious injuries when he attempted to remove Appellant and co-defendant from the bar because they were overly drunk and would not voluntarily leave.

When arguing the discovery violation to the trial court, defense counsel stated that had he received the letter pre trial he would have confronted Fitzpatrick with the amounts paid and argued that he benefited from those payments and lied about being the aggressor for financial gain (T. 628-629). The only evidence that supports Appellant's claim that Fitzpatrick was the aggressor was the self serving testimony of Appellant and Co-Defendant. Further, there was no evidence to support the argument that Fitzpatrick lied for financial gain as his trial testimony matched the statement he told police on the night of the crime, before he filed any claim for benefits. (R. 1-2).

As Petitioner notes, the jury returned a verdict for the lesser included offense of battery. The State would suggest that had defense counsel brought the amount of medical bills to the attention of the jury, it would have only served to highlight the severity of the victim's injuries, likely causing them to find Appellant guilty of the higher charge of aggravated battery.

Further, as the State argued below, defense counsel's suggestion that Fitzpatrick somehow "benefited" from severe injuries he suffered "on the job" is meritless. A plain reading of the letter certainly does not suggest in any way that Fitzgerald's claim was suspect or subject to the outcome of Appellant's trial or that he was profiting from the claim. It was simply a list of the amount of benefits paid to date and a request for information about restitution. The inclusion of the victim's medical bills would have added nothing to the defense, at a risk of making the victim more sympathetic.

Finally, when the alleged discovery violation is considered in the context of the entire trial, its omission could not have possibly resulted in prejudice in light of the overwhelming amount of evidence adduced at trial proving Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Although Appellant denied being drunk, he acknowledged having several beers that evening at three different establishments and Sam Berkowitz testified that he was the "designated driver" because Appellant and Stewart planned to drink too much (T. 353-355;372;419). Eye witnesses testified that Appellant and codefendant Stewart were acting drunk and disruptive prior to being asked to leave by the victim, Jerry Fitzpatrick, the bar's security guard. (Steffan: T. 55-56; Fitzpatrick: 153,176; David: T. 233-235; Guyon: 277; Vaughn: 309-312).

The physical altercation began when Stewart refused to voluntarily leave the bar, ordered another drink and became

verbally abusive to Fitzpatrick. (T. 153-154;172,173; 177;183). Appellant told Dominique Steffan that Fitzpatrick "got what he deserved" because he was trying to throw them out before last call (T. 59-61). Stewart was upset that other bar patrons had not been asked to leave (T. Fitzpatrick: 154; Appellant: 358-359; Stewart: 438).

As Fitzgerald was escorting Stewart by the arm to the door, Appellant joined the fight by striking Fitzgerald from behind with a bar stool (T. 155). Other witnesses testified to seeing Appellant kick and punch Fitzgerald and described the fight as "two against one: Appellant and Stewart against Fitzgerald (T. Steffan T. 57-63; 84-96;236-237;259; Vaughn: 310-311). Appellant testified that he kneed and punched Fitzpatrick in the head, when he thought Fitzpatrick was "getting the better of" Stewart (T.362). Stewart testified that Appellant punched Fitzgerald in the head and kneed him (T.440).

Several witnesses testified that Appellant struck Fitzgerald in the back or the back of the head with a bar stool (T. Steffan T. 57-62; Fitzpatrick 155-156,164; David 236; Guyon T. 278; Vaughn T. 310-313). Appellant testified that he kneed and punched Fitzpatrick in the head, while he was fighting with Stewart (T. 362).

The victim, his treating doctor and several witnesses testified concerning, the nature of the injuries he sustained in the fight. (Steffan: T.65-68; Officer Barbre: T. 106-107; Dr. Hal Tobias: T. 124-143; Fitzpatrick: T. 160-164, 188-190; 207;226; Guyon: 279; Vaughn T. 314.326). It is also important to consider the limited content of the letter in question, as its content is limited to the amounts paid by the carrier for medical bills and lost wages and asks the State to seek restitution should they obtain a conviction. (T. 221-222). The letter does not infer that Fitzgerald's claim was being questioned by the carrier, nor did it infer that his benefits were dependant on the outcome of Appellant's trial. As discussed above, Appellant was fully aware of the claim and could have discovered the amount paid on the claim(T. 628-631).

Appellant also argues that the absence of the letter was made worse by the prosecutor's closing argument wherein she argued that "none of the witnesses had a stake in the outcome." The standard when reviewing prosecutorial comments is set forth in <u>Breedlove v.</u> State, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla.1982), as follows:

Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments. The control of comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of such discretion is shown. A new trial should be granted when it is "reasonably evident that the remarks might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would have otherwise done." Each case must be considered on its own merits, however, and within the circumstances surrounding the complained-of remarks.

Id. (citations omitted).

The Supreme Court explained the proper parameters of closing argument in <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 130 (Fla.1985):

The proper exercise of closing argument is to review the evidence and to explicate those inferences which may

reasonably be drawn from the evidence. Conversely, it must not be used to inflame the minds and passions of the jurors so that their verdict reflects an emotional response to the crime or the defendant rather than the logical analysis of the evidence in light of the applicable law.

Id. at 134.

The State argues that the prosecutor's comment in closing argument was proper as it was a fair inference drawn from the evidence adduced at trial. When this comment is considered in the light of all the evidence adduced at trial and in the context of the entire closing argument, the comment could not have possibly misled or inflamed the jury, nor could it have affected the outcome of the trial.

Based on the foregoing arguments, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm Appellant's conviction.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERR WHEN IT AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE DEFENSE MOTION FOR PRODUCTION OF THE VICTIM'S DRUG REHABILITATION RECORDS.

The Fourth District affirmed this issue without comment and Appellant did not seek the Discretionary Jurisdiction from this Court on this Issue. Therefore, the State would respectfully argue that this Court should not consider this issue. However, should this Court wish to address this issue, the State argues that the District Court's decision should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

A trial court's ruling on the relevancy of evidence and whether or not the probative value is outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice is governed by an abuse of discretion standard of review. <u>Williamson v. State</u>, 681 So. 2d 688, 696 (Fla. 1996). Evidence may be excluded under Section 90.403, Florida Statutes (2004), which provides that evidence is inadmissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of issues, misleading the jury, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. This Court has held that evidence of drug use is not admissible for impeachment unless it is relevant to the time of the crime or that if affected the witness's ability to observe or perceive events. <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 548 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 1989).

Here, defense counsel sought to impeach the victim with medical records from drug rehabilitation treatment he received *after* the crime occurred. Appellant argues that the records were relevant because the victim testified that he had taken pain medication for a period of time prior to the crime for an unrelated injury, that he had taken pain medication on the day of the crime and that he attributed his need for drug rehabilitation to the memory loss he suffered in the fight with Appellant and codefendant. The State argues that because the these records only concern the nature and treatment of the victim's injuries and not the cause of the injuries (i.e. the crime in question), the records would only serve as improper bad character evidence against the victim while providing no relevant evidence on the issue of how or by whom the injury was caused.

Impeachment evidence may be inadmissible if it unfairly prejudices or misleads the trier of fact and inquiry into

collateral matters, which do not promote the interests of justice, should not be permitted if it is unjust to the witness and uncalled for by the circumstances. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 605, 609 (Fla. 1991). In the case at bar, the victim's injuries and symptoms were well established at trial through his own testimony, the testimony of co-workers who knew him before and after the crime, and his treating physician. Therefore, any relevant information found in these records would have been cumulative.

Further, defense counsel thoroughly cross examined the victim on his history with pain medication and argued that the victim was abusing drugs during closing argument, although there was no evidence to link his prior drug use with the post crime drug rehabilitation. (T. 164-226; 550). When the victim's testimony in viewed in context with the other evidence presented and in the context of the State's closing argument it is clear that the State did not make his memory loss a feature of the trial.

Finally, should this Court find that the trial court abused its discretion by denying the defense request for these records, the State argues that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence adduced at trial which proved Appellant's guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v.* DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing arguments and the authorities cited therein, Respondent respectfully requests this Court Affirm the Fourth District's Opinion in this Case.